


2 

 

Related Assistance for Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, the Civil Rights Attorney’s Fee Award 

Act of 1976, and, the Civil Rights Act of 1871. 

 

Petitioner’s claims arising under any law other than the IDEA were previously dismissed by the hearing officer in 

an order issued on December 22, 2014 as outside the jurisdiction of the special education hearing officer in Texas.  

Petitioner previously confirmed claims arising under laws other than the IDEA were raised solely for the purpose of 
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as “J. Ex. ___.”).  Student has been diagnosed with ***, developmental delay, and ***.  Student was a 

***. ***.  Student and Student’s ***. (Transcript Volume I, p. 163)(referred to hereafter as “Tr. Vol. 

___, p. ___.”)(J. Ex. 3, p. 14) (J. Ex. 14, p. 355).  Student uses *** as assistive devices to support 

Student’s ability to participate in the educational program. (J. Ex. 4 p. 18).  

Medical History 

2. Student’s other medical conditions include ***, ***, ***, ***, *** and ***.  Student has a history of 

***. (J. Ex. 6, p. 116) (Petitioner’s Exhibit 21, p. 3) (referred to hereafter as “P. Ex. ___, p. 

___.”)(Respondent’s Exhibit 14, pp. 515-518)(referred to hereafter as “R. Ex. ___, p. ____.”).   

3. The portion of Student’s brain that stores information appears intact.  However, the “white matter” 

portion of Student’s brain is damaged i.e. the connective fibers that transmit and coordinate information 

from one information storage area in the brain to the other.  This means the rest of Student’s brain is not 

very efficient at communicating from one part to the other in coordinating more complex tasks.  (Tr. 

Vol. II, pp. 512-513). In addition the *** was particularly damaging to the “white matter.”  (Tr. Vol. II, 

p. 514). 

4. Student had multiple ***. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 607) (R. Ex. 4, p. 515).  The *** of Student’s *** had an 

impact on Student’s brain development over time. (Tr. Vol. II, pp. 478, 513).  Student’s brain was 

further damaged by *** was successful. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 517). 

5. At birth Student’s 
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sounds by screaming, yelling and tearing up – this is most frequent in *** school.    (Tr. Vol I, pp. 184, 

252-253) (Tr. Vol II, p. 437) (P. Ex. 10, p. 7).  Student’s behavioral responses to loud noises are 

inconsistent. (Tr. Vol. I., pp. 183-185). 

10. Sensory integration is the ability to correctly respond to stimuli in the environment.  A person with a 

sensory integration disorder has difficulty responding appropriately to environmental stimuli. (Tr. Vol. 

I., p. 339).  A sensory diet could provide Student with a set of sensory breaks throughout the school day 

on a regulated schedule.  None of Student’s IEPs included a sensory diet. (Tr. Vol. I., p. 345).   

11. An occupational therapist cannot diagnose a sensory integration disorder but is qualified to assess the 

different areas of need to address a student’s difficulties in the sensory integration process. However, the 

school district has never proposed a sensory integration evaluation. (Tr. Vol. I., pp. 339-341).  

Educational History 

12. Student first received special education services from the school district in *** at *** School No. 1 for 

the 2011-2012 and 2012-2013 school years.  However, Student missed much of the 2011-2012 school 

year due to serious medical issues. (Tr. Vol. II., pp. 578-579) (J. Ex. 9) (J. Ex. 10) (J. Ex. 11) (J. Ex. 12) 

(J. Ex. 13).  Student then attended *** for the 2013-14 school year at *** School No. 2.  (J. Ex. 5, p. 62) 

(J. Ex. 8). Student experienced some educational setbacks as a result of the medical issues and regressed 

somewhat over the summer between the *** and ***. (Tr. Vol. I., pp. 165, 224-226).   

13. The school district contracts with *** for a number of related services including physical (PT), 

occupational (OT) and speech therapy. (Tr. Vol. I., p. 314). Student has received OT services from ***. 

(Tr. Vol. I., pp. 315-316).  Over the years Student’s parents also provided Student with outside OT, PT, 

and ***. (Tr. Vol. II, pp. 586, 647)(Tr. Vol. III, pp. 813-814)(R. Ex. 21, p. 595).  Student received OT 

and PT as a component of the ***. Although Student made some progress in these areas Student did not 

master the OT or PT objectives.  (J. Ex. 9, pp. 198-201).   

14. Student’s annual Admission, Review & Dismissal Committee (ARD) review was conducted on April 

25, 2013. (J. Ex. 9, pp. 184, 217).  The ARD planned for Student’s transition into *** and agreed 

Student would be placed in a self contained special education program known as *** or “***.”  The 

ARD selected *** School No. 2 -- the campus closest to Student’s home with a *** classroom. (Tr. Vol. 

I., p. 163)(J. Ex. 4, p. 29) (J. Ex. 5, pp. 60-61) (J. Ex. 9, p. 218).  The *** classroom serves students in 

*** grade, ages ***.  All of the students in the *** have significant cognitive disabilities.  (Tr. Vol. I., p. 

166).   

August 2013 ARD 

15. Prior to the beginning of Student’s *** year another ARD met on August 29, 2013.  The ARD noted 

Student’s three year re-evaluation would be due the following September in 2014.  The ARD agreed 

Student continued to meet eligibility for special education services as a student with OHI, VI, and a SI.  

(Tr. Vol. I, p. 163) (J. Ex. 8, pp. 162, 173). 
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*** Services 2013-2014 

18. Student was placed in the *** program for most of the school day with 30 minutes of inclusion PE and 

Music daily with inclusion support.  Student received speech therapy services – 20 minutes two 

times/week for three out of every four weeks with indirect services on the fourth week.  Student also 

received vision services six times every four weeks for 15 minutes/session. (J. Ex. 8, p. 174). The school 

district did not assess Student for Adaptive PE because accommodations in the general education PE 

class were successful. (Tr. Vol. I., pp 94-95).  During the 2013-14 school year Student received direct 

1:1 instruction from the special education teacher for 30 minutes each day.  (Tr. Vol. II, p. 651).     

Implementation of IEP by Aides 

19. The *** teacher was the direct supervisor for the aides and the school district responsible for their 

training. (Tr. Vol. I., p. 174).  During the 2013-14 school year classroom aides did not review Student’s 

IEP or know the specific set of goals and objectives or other components. (Tr. Vol. I., pp. 297-298)(Tr. 

Vol II, pp. 868-869). The classroom aides need training on implementing Student’s IEP. (Tr. Vol. II, pp. 

418-419). However, at the beginning of the year the *** teacher met with the aides, and advised the 

aides what they needed to work on and of any parental requests.  In addition, she met with the aides 

weekly to determine what needed to be improved or changed throughout the school year.  (Tr. Vol. I., 

pp. 180, 237, 290-291)(P. Ex. 10, p. 2). 
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of OT, 30 minutes four times a month of PT, 30 minutes five times every six weeks of music therapy, 

vision services for 15 minutes six times every four weeks, and 15 minutes per day of in class support.  

(J. Ex. 5, pp. 61).  Student’s mother received Notice of Procedural Safeguards and signed a Medicaid 

reimbursement consent form on April 15, 2014.  (J. Ex. 7, pp. 142-143). 

Occupational Therapy 

26. OT services were provided through direct therapy with the occupational therapist and functional 

activities in the classroom with the teacher. The therapist did not see the need to increase the frequency 

of direct OT services because Student was adequately served in the classroom.  (Tr. Vol. I., pp. 342-

344).  The occupational therapist changed activities frequently to hold Student’s attention and found 

Student was more compliant with a shorter therapy session. (Tr. Vol. I. p. 322)(R. Ex. 16, pp. 535-539).   

27. Student made some progress using Student’s fine motor skills during the 2013-14 school year -- 

particularly in the emerging use of Student’s ***. However Student’s progress and participation were 
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33. 





10 

 

Investigations 

51. The principal investigated the incident. He interviewed the aide, the Assistant Principal, the school 

counselor, another special education aide, and the custodian. (Tr. Vol. I., pp 146-147)(R. Ex. 35).  It was 

not until this litigation -- through the discovery process -- that Student’s parents learned the washroom 

was used multiple times to isolate Student in addressing behavioral issues in the ***. (Tr. Vol. I., pp. 

249-250)(J. Ex. 1, pp. 9-13).  The use of the washroom to calm Student when Student misbehaved in the 

*** was not in line with teacher directives or *** protocol.  Instead, Student was to be returned to the 

*** when Student misbehaved in the ***. (Tr. Vol. I., pp. 212-214, 253).  

52. Prior to this incident the *** aide had been the subject of complaints and concerns expressed by other 

*** aides to the teacher and campus leadership.  The other aides felt she did not interact appropriately 

with *** students, including Student.  (Tr. Vol. I., pp. 49, 243-245, 288-290, 293-295)(Tr. Vol. III, p. 

766-770)(P. Ex. 16, p. 120).  The aide was ultimately terminated from her position for failing to follow a 

directive; i.e., she failed to seek assistance when Student’s behavior was out of control. (Tr. Vol. I, pp. 

114-115) (Tr. Vol. III, pp. 770-773) (R. Ex. 8). 
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September 2014 REED and in the OT report. (J. Ex. 6, pp. 99-141) (R. Ex. 44, p. 2585).   

58. Student is not able to inhibit behavioral responses well because of Student’s neurological condition.  A 

variety of stressors trigger Student’s behavior.  One stressor is when Student doesn’t know what Student 

is supposed to do in a particular situation.  If Student experiences too much stimuli it overloads 

Student’s 
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Progress Reports 

65. Student’s IEP required periodic reports on Student’s progress in meeting IEP goals concurrent with the 

issuance of report cards. (J. Ex. 4, pp. 19-23).  Progress reports were sent home along with Student’s 

report card every six weeks. (Tr. Vol. I., p. 201)(J. Ex. 5, pp. 50-54(J. Ex. 8, p. 165) (R. Ex. 6, p. 373).  

However, students in regular education also received progress notes every three weeks.  (Tr. Vol. I., pp. 

39-40, 203). While Student’s *** received three week progress notes Student did not. (Tr. Vol. I., pp. 

41-43)(Tr. Vol II, pp. 583, 650)(P. Ex. 10, p. 27).   

66. The *** teacher issued a single progress report that included feedback from related service personnel. 

(Tr. Vol. III, pp. 822-823).  The OT issued a single annual progress report that was sent to the school 
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answers or whether Student is simply retrieving readily available information neurologically.  (J. Ex. 5, 

p. 80) (Tr. Vol. II., p.467) (Tr. Vol. III, pp. 817-818, 829).  Student mastered two out of five PT goals by 

the April 2014 ARD.  (J. Ex. 5, p. 81).  Student mastered two of four objectives with regard to eye gaze 

and color and made some progress on the other two. (J. Ex. 5, pp. 78-79). 
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diet might have an impact on Student’s ability to lengthen Student’s ability to attend to instruction longer and/or 

tolerate loud noises in a more consistent manner. Although the evidence showed Student enjoys PE with Student’s 

peers Student’s gross and fine motor deficits suggest that Student may also benefit from some Adaptive PE that 

could be woven into Student’s regular PE program.  

 

Behavioral Assessment and Lack of BIP:   The evidence showed the school district did not collect adequate 

behavioral data.  This meant teaching staff and related service personnel did not have the information they needed 

to determine which behavioral interventions are effective and which were not.  There is no baseline behavioral data 

to work from.  Without collecting antecedent and consequence data there is no clear understanding of how to shape 

and guide Student’s behavior.  The evidence demonstrates that Student’s behavior has an impact on Student’s 

ability to learn and access the educational environment.   
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fairly incremental.  The IDEA requires that the student’s benefit from the educational program must be meaningful 

and more than simply “de minimis.”  Polk v. Cent. Susquehanna Int. Unit 16, 853 F. 2d 171, 180, 182 (3d Cir. 

1988). The educational program must be likely to produce progress and not merely trivial advancement.  Houston 

Ind. Sch. Dist. v. VP, 582 F. 3d at 583.  It is difficult to determine whether Student’s progress was meaningful 

enough since there is a lack of adequate behavioral data and a current cognitive assessment by which Student’s 

progress can be measured.  Therefore I conclude that while Student did demonstrate some progress Petitioner 

produced sufficient evidence to meet Petitioner’s burden of questioning whether that progress was sufficiently 

meaningful.  Id. 

 

 

 

Student and Parental Procedural Rights 

 

The evidence showed Notice of Procedural Rights was provided to Student’s mother, that the requisite members 

of the ARD convened each time and that Student’s mother was actively involved in Student’s education. There 

is some evidence that the school district has been inconsis
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Specific Findings Requested by the Parties 

 

In Texas either or both parties may request specific findings of fact be included in the Decision of the Hearing 

Officer with regard to the following: 

 Whether the parent or the school district unreasonably protracted the final resolution of the issues in 

controversy in the hearing; and, 

 Whether the parent’s attorney provided the school district the appropriate information in the hearing 

request in accordance with the federal regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 300.508 (b). 19 Tex. Admin. Code § 

89.1185 (m) (1) (2). 

There was insufficient evidence to conclude that either party or their lawyers unreasonably protracted the final 

resolution of the issues in this case.  A review of the procedural history of this case shows the parties submitted 

pleadings in a timely manner, worked cooperatively and collaboratively together to conduct and complete 
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these  purposes within 5 
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11. The school district shall conduct updated and formal OT, PT and music therapy evaluations, by 

examiners chosen by the school district, and be prepared to share the results and recommendations of 

those evaluations at Student’s next annual ARD as scheduled by mutual agreement of the parties. 

All other relief not specifically stated herein is DENIED. 

SIGNED the 20th day of February 2015 

 

      /s/ Ann Vevier Lockwood 

      Ann Vevier Lockwood 

      Special Education Hearing Officer 

 

NOTICE TO THE PARTIES 

 

The Decision of the Hearing Officer in this cause is a final and appealable order.  Any party aggrieved by the 

findings and decisions made by the hearing officer may bring a civil action with respect to the issues presented 

at the due process hearing in any state court of competent jurisdiction or in a district court of the United States.  

34 C.F.R. § 300.516; 19 Tex. Admin. Code Sec. 89.1185 (n); Tex. Gov’t Code, Sec. 2001.144(a) (b).  



 BEFORE A SPECIAL EDUCATION HEARING OFFICER 

 STATE OF TEXAS 

STUDENT, 

bnf Parent and Parent, § 

 Petitioner, § 

 § 

v. § DOCKET NO. 028-SE-0914 

 §                               

CANYON INDEPENDENT  § 

SCHOOL DISTRICT, § 

 Respondent. § 

  

 SYNOPSIS 

 

ISSUE: 

 

Whether school district failed to provide FAPE within the least restrictive environment to *** 

school student with OHI, VI, and SI, significant medical history including *** and subsequent ***, 

and complex academic and behavioral needs. 

 

HELD: 

 

For the student in part and the school district in part. 

 

Student met burden of proving school district failed to provide a FAPE to extent Student’s 

educational program did not meet two of the four factors analysis of Michael F.: 

 

(1) The IEP  was not sufficiently individualized on the basis of assessment or evaluation 

because the school district failed to conduct a number of appropriate assessments including: 

three year FIE re-evaluation [resorting to use of a REED when school ran out of time to 

meet three-year re-evaluation deadline] AT, Adaptive PE, hearing, additional visual 

assessment, sensory integration, adequate behavioral assessment, updated formal OT, PT 

and music therapy assessments, and parent training and in-home training assessments; 

  

(2) The IEP lacked key components in meeting Student’s complex needs (no BIP, failure to 

adequately consider or document Student’s needs for ESY); and, 

 

(3) Although Student made some academic and behavioral progress it was fairly incremental 

and therefore not sufficiently meaningful.  

 

School district provided special education services to Student in coordinated and collaborative 

manner by key stakeholders.  Program delivered in LRE with structure and specialized instruction 

in self contained special education classroom Student needed with appropriate amount of interaction 

with general education peers in music and PE for 60 minutes each day, and 15 minutes in general 
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considered in designing instruction for Student. 

 

20 U.S.C. § 1401 (9); 34 CFR §§ 300.17, 300.114 

 

ISSUE: 

 

Whether school district failed to provide student with FAPE due to alleged violations of Student and 

parental procedural rights. 

 

HELD: 

 

For the school district. 

 

School district provided timely reports on Student’s progress towards meeting IEP goals and 

objectives under the terms stated in Student’s IEP and in compliance with IDEA regulations.    

Student’s mother received Notice of Procedural Rights and was active participant in Student’s 

education and educational decision-making.  Failure to inform parents of the use of isolation as a 

behavioral intervention not a procedural violation but instead an outcome of school district’s failure 

to design and implement an appropriate BIP. 

 

34 CFR § 300.320 (a) (3) (ii). 

 

ISSUE: 

 

Whether school district failed to protect student and parents from bullying, harassment or 

retaliation. 

 

HELD: 

 

For the school district. 

 

School district took reasonable steps to protect student from ***


